
IN THE 
WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

vs. 

MARCUS THORNTON, 

Petitioner. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 
From: 

Washington Court of Appeals 
Division II 

No. 48166-9-II 

MARCUS THORNTON #323979 
Stafford Creek Corr. Center 
Unit H-1 
191 Constantine Ave. 
Aberdeen, WA 98520 



Table of Contents 

A. Identity of Moving Party 1 

B. Court of Appeals Decision 1 

C. Issues Presented for Review 1-2 

D. Statement of the Case 2 

(a) Procedural & Substantive Facts 2 

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted 

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION HOLDING THAT THE FIRST 
AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION DID NOT CONSTITUTE MANIFEST 
CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF 
THIS COURT AND ANOTHER COURT OF APPEALS; AND RAISES 
A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW WHICH 
SHOULD BE REVIEWED. RAP13.4(b)(1 )(2),(3) ... 2-7 

(a) The Aggressor Instruction Misstated the Law and 
Improperly Stripped Thornton of His Right to Argue 
Self-Defense 2-3 

(b) The Aggressor Instruction Erroneously Directed the 
Jurors to Disregard Thornton's Self-Defense Claim 
Even Absent a Criminally Aggressive Provoking Act 

3-7 

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION HOLDING THAT 
SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE FIRST AGGRESSOR 
INSTRUCTION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT 
AND ANOTHER COURT OF APPEALS; AND RAISES A 
SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW WHICH 
SHOULD BE REVIEWED. RAP 13.4(b)(1 )(2), (3) 7-
9 

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION HOLDING THAT THERE 
WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT CONFLICTS WITH 
DECISIONS OF THIS COURT; ANOTHER COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION; INVOLVING A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF 
CONSTITUTIONAL LAW AND SUBSANTIAL ISSUE OF PUBLIC 
INTEREST. RAP 1 3. 4 ( b) ( 1 ) - ( 4) 9-1 7 

(a) The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct By Displaying 
a Highly Inflammatory PowerPoint Slide Showing Photos 
of Ware's Bloodied Body and the Added Caption: "What 
Does Murder Really Look Like" 11-15 

i 



(b) The Prosecutor Improperly "Testified" to "Facts" 
Not in Evidence When He Claimed That Thornton Told 
Gardner He was Going to Kill Ware 15-17 

IV. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION HOLDING THAT PETITIONER 
WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF HIS SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH 
AMENDMENT DUE PROCESS RIGHT' S TO CONFRONTATION 
INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT ISSUE OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 
WHICH SHOULD BE REVIEWED. RAP 1 3. 4 ( b) ( 3) 1 7-
20 

F. Conclusion 20 

Table of Authorities 

U.S. SUPREME COURT CASES 

Cage v. Louisiana, 498 U.S. 39 (1990) 
6 

Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 
284, 294 (1973) 18 

Coy v. Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012, 1019 
(1988) 18 

Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 
637 (1974) 16 

Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415 
(1965) 1 8 

Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 5 01 I 

503 (1976) 1 0 

Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 
846 (1990) 18 

Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 129 
s.ct. 2557 (2009) 18 

United States v. Inadi, 475 U.S. 
387 (1986) 18 

Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 127 
(1994) 6 

ii 



STATE COURT CASES 

In Re Glasmann, 
P.3d 673 (2012) 

1 7 5 Wn. 2d 6 9 6, 2 8 6 
9, 10, 12-17 

State v. Arthur, 42 Wn.App. 120 (1985) 
4 

State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504 
(1988) 11 

State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 179 
(1995) 11 

State v. Brower, 43 Wn.App. 893, 
902 (1986) 8 

State v. Darden, 145 Wn. 2d 612, 620 
(2002) 18-20 

State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 
578 (2003) 11 

State v. Hardy, 44 Wn.App. 477, 484 
(1986) 5 

State v. Hecht, 179 Wn.App. 497, 
319 P.3d 836 (Div. I 2014) 9, 
1 2, 1 4, 

State v. Ish, 170 Wn.2d 189, 195 
(2010) 11 

State v. Lynn, 67 Wn.App. 339, 345 
(1992) 7 

State v. Mccann, 16 Wash. 249 (1896) 
3 

State v. McCreven, 170 Wn.App. 444, 
462 (2012) 2, 7 

State v. 
533 (2012) 

Pierce, 
1 6 

1 69 Wn.App. 

State v. Riley, 137 Wn.2d 904, 911 
(1999) 5 

iii 



State v. Rogers, 83 Wn.2d 53 (1974) 
4 

State v. Stark, 158 Wn.App. 952, 
960 (2010) 5-9 

State v. Spencer, 111 Wn.App. 401, 
408, 45 P.3d 209 (2002) 19-20 

State v. Thomas, 63 Wn. 2d 59 (1963) 
... 4 

State v. Thomas, 47 Wn.App. 1 ' 8 
( 198 7) 4 

State v. Turpin, 158 Wash. 103 (1930) 
3-4 

State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 4 63, 
P.3d 976 (2015) 9-10, 12-14 

Constitutional Provisions 

U.S. Const. Amend. XIV... 2, 10 
U.S. Const. Amend. VI ..• 20 

Wash. Constitution 

Article I, §22 10 

Other Authority 

341 

American Bar Association, Standards 
for Criminal Justice std. 
3-5.8(c) (2ed. 1980) 11 

Commentary to the ABA standards for 
Criminal Justice std. 3-5.8 17 

Former WPIC 16.04 (1977) 4 
Revised WPIC 16.04 4 

Court Rules 

RAP 2.5(a)(3) 7 
RAP 1 3 . 4 ( b) ( 1 ) ( 2 ) , ( 3 ) 
RAP 1 3 . 4 ( b ) ( 1 ) - ( 4 ) 

iv 

••• 2, 7, 9 
9, 20 



A. Identity of Moving Party 

Movant MARCUS THORNTON, [hereinafter petitioner] 

requests this Honorable Court to review the Court of 

Appeals, Division II, decision designated in part B 

below. 

B. Court of Appeals Decision 

The Court of Appeals, Division II, affirmed the 

judgment of the trial court against petitioner in an 

unpublished decision. A copy of the decision is attached 

here as Appendix "A". 

c. Issues Presented for Review 

1. Whether the Court of Appeals Erred in 

Concluding it Could Not Review the Argument That the 

Aggressor instruction Lowered the States Burden to 

Disprove Self-Defense Where Such Raises a Manifest 

Constitutional Error? 

2. 

Concluding 

Whether 

That 

the Court 

Sufficient 

of Appeals Erred in 

Evidence Supported the 

Aggressor Instruction Where There Was No Evidence That 

Petitioner Was the Aggressor or Provoked Ware? 

3. Whether the Court of Appeals Erred in 

Concluding that There Was No Prosecutorial Misconduct? 

4. Whether the Court of Appeals Erred When it 

Concluded that Petitioner Was Not Deprived of His Right 
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to Confrontation When the Trial Court Disallowed 

Cross-examination of a State Witness Bias? 

D. Statement of the Case 

(a) Procedural & Substantive Facts 

Petitioner was tried and convicted in Pierce County 

Superior Court of 2° Murder with a deadly weapon. 

The facts set out in the Statement of the Case 

in petitioner's Opening Brief are incorporated here 

by reference and other pertinent facts are developed 

in argument below. 

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted 

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION HOLDING THAT THE FIRST 
AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION DID NOT CONSTITUTE MANIFEST 
CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF 
THIS COURT AND ANOTHER COURT OF APPEALS; AND RAISES 
A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW WHICH 
SHOULD BE REVIEWED. RAP 13.4(b) (1)(2),(3) 

(a) The Aggressor Instruction Misstated 
and Improperly Stripped Thornton of 
to Argue Self-Defense. 

the Law 
His Right 

When there is some evidence shewing the lawful 

use of force, the state must disprove self defense 

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. McCreven, 170 

Wn.App. 444, 462 (2012). Jury instructions impermissibly 

lowering the states burden in a self-defense case 

violate the constitutional right to due process. 

Id.; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. The Court's instructions 

must make the state's burden of disproving self-defense 

2 



manifestly apparent to the average juror. Id. 

The court's aggressor instruction improperly 

stripped Thornton of his right to argue that he 

acted in self-defense. It precluded Thornton from 

claiming self-defense, even if he "provoked" Ware 

through lawful action that would not have provoked 

a reasonable person. CP 110 

The instruction was improper and prejudicial. 

Lawful conduct does not strip a person of the right 

to self-defense. This is especially true where 

the attacker's belligerent response is unreasonable 

or illegal. 

The court's aggressor instruction violated 

Thornton's right to due process. It impermissibly 

lowered the state's burden to disprove self-defense. 

Id. 

(b) The Aggressor 
the Jurors to 
Claim Even 
Provoking Act. 

Instruction Erroneously Directed 
Disregard Thornton's Self-Defense 

Absent a Criminally Aggressive 

The "aggressor doctrine" derives from the 

common-law rule that a person who provokes a fight 

may not claim self-defense. See State v. Mccann, 

1 6 Wash. 249 (1896). The common law has always 

required evidence of an unlawful (or "lawless") 

aggressive act. See State v. Turpin, 158 Wash. 103 
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(1930); State v. Thomas, 63 Wn.2d 59 (1963), overruled 

on other grounds by State v. Rogers, 83 Wn.2d 53 

(1974). 

When first published, the pattern jury instruction 

on the aggressor doctrine required the jury to determine 

whether the defendant created the need to act in 

self-defense "by any unlawful act." Former WPIC 

1 6. 0 4 ( 1977) (emphasis 

in State v. Thomas, 

added). 

47 Wn.App. 

However, the 

1, 8 (1987), 

court 

found 

this language to be unconstitutionally vague unless 

"directed to specific unlawful intentional conduct." 

The WPIC was subsequently changed to replace 

the word "unlawful" with "intentional." See WPIC 

16.04. This was an attempt to address the court's 

concern in State v. Arthur, 42 Wn.App. 120 (1985), 

that the jury could have considered the accidental 

fender bender there, to be an unlawful act prohibiting 

the accused from claiming self-defense. Id., at 

124. 

While the switch from "unlawful II to II intentional II 

does address the specific facts in Arthur, it also 

significantly lowers the state's burden by precluding 

a self-defense claim in any context in which an 

intentional-even if fully lawful act may foreseeably 
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provoke a belligerent response. 

For 

ask him/her 

instance, approaching a drug 

to leave one's neighborhood; 

dealer to 

Starting 

a business next to a competitor; or hosting numerous 

late-night parties after neighbors complain are 

all intentional act's reasonably likely to produce 

belligerent response's. None of these actions are 

unlawful, but all come within a literal reading 

of the 

language 

aggressor instruction. The instruction's 

prohibits each of these actors from using 

force to resist an attack. This is true even though 

Washington courts have continued to require that 

the aggressor doctrine be applied only in cases 

in which an accused person's unlawful act provoked 

a fight. See State v. Hardy, 44 Wn.App. 477, 484 

(1986); State v. Stark, 158 Wn.App. 952, 960 (2010). 

This Court held that "words alone do not 

constitute sufficient provocation" for an aggressor 

instruction. State v. Riley, 137 Wn. 2d 9 0 4, 911 

(1999). 

Arthur 

Accordingly, if the 

court that the word 

Court agrees 

"unlawful" in the 

with the 

previous 

version of the WPIC Aggressor 

vague, then some language must 

5 
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to 
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inform juries that a lawful even if provocative 

act is not enough to deprive an accused person 

of the right to use force in self-defense if attacked. 

Here, the jury could have believed that Thornton 

provoked the fight by riding around the neighborhood 

and approaching Ware to discuss the speaker. As 

such, the jury could have read the instruction to 

say that Thornton was not entitled to act in self­

defense even if Ware attacked him first with the 

baseball bat. 

The instruction therefore lowered the state's 

burden of disproving 

self-defense. The 

that 

court 

Thornton 

erroneously 

had acted in 

told jurors 

that Thornton was not entitled to defend himself 

if he provoked Ware--even if his "provocative" actions 

were wholly lawful. McCreven, 170 Wn.App. at 462. 

In sum, the court's improper aggressor instruction 

violated Thornton's right to due process by stripping 

him of his valid self-defense defense, and relieving 

the state of its burden of proof. Stark, 158 Wn.App. 

at 961. Also see Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 127 

(1994); Cage v. Louisiana, 498 U.S. 39 (1990). 

Although, Thornton objected to the aggressor 

instruction - RP 927 (9/21/15) - the court of appeals 
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held that Thornton did not object on the basis "that 

it lowered the state's burden of disproving 

self-defense." UNPUBLISHED OPINION at 7. Therefore, 

the court did not address the claim. However, because 

this claim is a manifest error affecting a constitutional 

right the court should have addressed the claim 

on the merits. RAP 2. 5 (a) ( 3) . McCreven, 1 7 0 Wn. App. 

at 462. Also see State v. Lynn, 67 Wn.App. 339, 

345 (1992). 

The court of appeals decision is in conflict 

with other court of appeals and this Court, Id., 

raising a significant question of constitutional 

law which should be reviewed. RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2),(3) 

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION HOLDING THAT 
SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE FIRST 
AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS 
OF THIS COURT AND ANOTHER COURT OF APPEALS; 
AND RAISES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF 
CONSTITUTIONAL LAW WHICH SHOULD BE REVIEWED. 
RAP 1 3 . 4 ( b ) ( 1 ) ( 2 ) , ( 3 ) 

Washington courts disfavor aggressor instructions. 

Stark, 158 Wn.App. at 960. Such instructions 'are 

rarely necessary to permit the parties to argue 

their theories of the case, and have the potential 

to relieve the state of its burden in self-defense 

cases. Id. 

Courts review de novo whether evidence justifies 

7 



a first aggressor instruction 

case. Id., at 959. Here, the 

in a 

state 

self-defense 

produced no 

evidence that Thornton engaged in any unlawful aggressive 

act before the fight began. 

The first aggressor doctrine cannot apply 

to someone who lawfully rides' his bicycle on public 

streets. The assault, itself, also cannot constitute 

the allegedly aggressive act. Brower, 43 Wn.App. 

at 902. Otherwise, the aggressor doctrine would 

apply in every self-defense case. 

Here, the court justified giving the aggressor 

instruction on the grounds that Thornton 

wandered public streets looking for Ware. 

lawfully 

RP 932 

(9/21/15). No other intentional act was advanced 

to justify the instruction. 

The court of appeals held that the aggressor 

instruction was proper where there was conflicting 

evidence. UNPUBLISHED OPINION at 10 (citing Riley, 

137 Wn.2d at 910). However, this finding is erroneous 

where there was no evidence presented that Thornton 

made any 

order to 

v. Hardy, 

43 Wn.App. 

intentional 

provoke a 

44 Wn.App. 

893, 902 

unlawful act against Ware in 

belligerent response. See State 

477, 484 (1986); State v. Brower, 

(1986); Stark, 158 Wn.App. 952, 

8 



960 (2010). 

The court's improper aggressor instruction 

infringed Thornton's right to due process by stripping 

him of his valid self-defense claim and relieving 

the state of its burden of proof. Stark, 158 Wn.App. 

at 961. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals in 

this case therefore conflicts with this Court's 

decision in Riley. It also conflicts with other 

courts of appeals decisions Id., thus, review should 

be Granted. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2), and (3). 

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION HOLDING THAT THERE 
WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT CONFLICTS WITH 
DECISIONS OF THIS COURT; ANOTHER COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION; INVOLVING A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF 
CONSTITUTIONAL LAW AND SUBSANTIAL ISSUE OF PUBLIC 
INTEREST. RAP 1 3. 4 ( b) ( 1 ) - ( 4) • 

This Court should accept review given the 

considerations set out in RAP 13.4(b)(1 )-(4). All are 

satisfied here. First, the Court of Appeals decision is 

in conflict with decisions of this Court. See In Re 

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) and State 

v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 341 P.3d 976 (2015). Second, 

the Court of Appeal's decision is in conflict with another 

decision of the court of appeals. See State v. Hecht, 

179 Wn.App. 497, 319 P.3d 836 (Div. I 2014). Third, the 

decision involves a significant question of constitutional 
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law. Walker, Id., at 480-481 ("[W]alker has met his burden 

of showing that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct 

that was so prejudicial and flagrant that it denied Walker 

his constitutional right to a fair trial"). Finally, the 

petition involves an issue of substantial public interest, 

namely whether such conduct strays from properly 

representing the public's interest. Walker, Id., at 476. 

The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty 

secured by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United 

States Cons ti tut ion and Article I, §22 of the Washington 

State Constitution. Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 

503 (1976); In Re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704 (2012). 

A fair trial certainly implies a trial in which the attorney 

representing the state does not throw the prestige of his 

public office and the expression of his own belief 

of guilt into the scales against the accused. Glasmann, 

Id., at 704. 

Al though, a prosecutor has wide latitude to argue 

all reasonable inferences from the evidence, State v. 

Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 448 (2011), a prosecutor must 

"seek convictions based only on probative evidence and 

sound reason," State v. Casteneda-Perez, 61 

363 (1991); State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 

Wn. App. 354, 

663 (1968). 

"The prosecutor should not use arguments calculated to 
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inf lame the passions or prejudices of the jury." American 

Bar Association, Standards for Criminal Justice std. 

3-5.8(c) (2ed. 1980); State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 179 

(1995); State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504 (1988). 

In order to prevail on a claim of prosecutorial 

misconduct, a defendant is required to show that in the 

context of the record and all of the circumstances of the 

trial, the prosecutors conduct was both improper and 

prejudicial. Thorgerson, Id., at 442. To show prejudice 

requires that the defendant show a substantial likelihood 

that the misconduct affected the jury verdict. Id.; State 

Y..!..._Ish, 170 Wn.2d 189, 195 (2010); State v. Dhaliwa.l, 150 

Wn.2d 559, 578 (2003). 

(a) The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct 
a Highly Inflammatory PowerPoint Slide 
of Ware's Bloodied Body and the Added 
Does Murder Really Look Like". 

By Displaying 
Showing Photos 
Caption: "What 

Here, the prosecutors closing argument presentation 

included two unadmi tted pieces of evidence. First, like 

Glasmann, the exhibit ( POWERPOINT slide of Ware's Bloody 

body) was admitted into evidence. Second, like Glasmann, 

the prosecutors alteration of the admitted exhibit 

( POWERPOINT slide of Ware Is Bloody body) by adding the 

words "What Does Murder Really Look Like" was the equivalent 

of unadmitted evidence in itself. 

The Court of Appeals assumed that the state used 
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improper captions with its POWERPOINT presentation - without 

deciding during closing argument, but held the error 

could have been cured with an instruction. The Court of 

Appeals decision is inconsistent with this Court's decisions 

in Glasmann and Walker, Id., and Di vision One's decision 

in Hecht, Id. 

Showing the jury the POWERPOINT slide 

argument was improper and prejudicial. 

at 704.; Walker, at 490. 

during closing 

Glasmann, Id., 

The Court of Appeals also concluded that the 

PowerPoint slide of an admitted exhibit with the added 

caption "What Does Murder Really Look Like" across Ware's 

bloody body even assuming it was inflammatory, was not 

so flagrant and ill intentioned that no instruction could 

have cured the prejudice. UNPUBLISHED OPINION at 12. This 

conclusion is also inconsistent with this Court's decision's 

in Glasmann, Walker, and the Court of Appeals, Division 

One's decision in Hecht. 

In Glasmann, this Court in reversing the conviction 

found that the prosecutors PowerPoint presentation that 

included slides of altered admitted exhibits was not proper 

argument, but rather constituted flagrant and 

ill-intentioned misconduct. Glasmann, Id., at 704-706; 

71 5. 

12 



The Court of Appeals' decision also contradicts 

this Court's ruling in Walker. Walker, like Glasmann, 

involved PowerPoint presentations during closing argument 

that included altered exhibits, expressions of the 

prosecutors opinion on the defendants guilt, clear efforts 

to distract the jury from its proper function as a rational 

decision-maker. Walker, Id., at 479. This court found 

"no difficulty holding" the prosecutor's conduct improper. 

Id., at 478. 

Because the Court of Appeals concluded the 

prosecutors alteration of the admitted POWERPOINT slide 

with the caption "What Does Murder Really Look Like" was 

not improper, it did not address the prejudicial impact. 

However, this Court has acknowledged the highly prejudicial 

impact of some images: 

Highly prejudicial images may sway a jury 
in ways that words cannot. Such 
imagery, then, may be very difficult to 
overcome with an instruction. 
Prejudicial imagery may become all more 
problematic when displayed in the closing 
arguments of a trial, when the jury members 
may be particularly aware of, and 
susceptible to the arguments being 
presented. 

Glasmann, Id., at 707-08 (citations omitted). 

The prejudicial impact here was similar to that 

found in both Glasmann and Walker. In Glasmann, the jury 

was required to analyze the "nuanced distinctions" between 

1 3 



different degrees of offenses. Glasmann, Id., at 710. 

In Walker, the issue at trial was extent, if any, of 

Walker's involvement in the crimes, requiring the jury 

to make sense of a multistage criminal scheme with several 

participants playing separate roles. Walker, Id., at 479. 

This Court concluded that: 

Id. 

The State's PowerPoint presentation 
obfuscated the complicated facts presented 
to the jury here at least as much as the 
presentation in Glasmann did. The State's 
misconduct here was so flagrant, pervasive, 
and prejudicial that it could not have 
been overcome with a timely objection and 
an instruction to the jury to disregard 
the improper slides. 

Finally, this case is indistinguishable from Hecht. 

In Hecht, Division one, relying on this Court's decision 

in Glasmann, concluded there is no legitimate purpose for 

the prosecutor, during closing argument, to use slides 

showing the defendant's photograph with large red "GUILTY" 

superimposed over his face. Id. As such, the court 

concluded the prosecutors misconduct undermined the 

defendants right to a fair trial by "creating a substantial 

likelihood of a verdict improperly based on passion and 

prejudice. Id., at 507. 

The same result should control here, the slide was 

altered with the words "What Does Murder Really Look Like" 

1 4 



this was prejudicial which no curative instruction could 

have cured. Id. Moreover, the only real factual issue 

for the jury was whether Thornton acted in self-defense. 

The improper slide suggested that the images, themselves, 

proved that murder had taken place. 

(b) The Prosecutor Improperly "Testified" to "Facts" 
Not in Evidence When He Claimed That Thornton Told 
Gardner He Was Going to Kill Ware. 

Gardner testified that Thornton told her that he 

was riot going to hurt Ware: 

GARDNER: I believe I told [Mr. Thornton], 
don't hurt [Ware], if he did 
see him. 

PROSECUTOR: What did he say? 

GARDNER: He did like a chuckle and said, 
"Oh, I'm not going to hurt him." 

PROSECUTOR: What was your understanding 
of what he was saying? 

GARDNER: I don't know. But I told him 
if he hurt him, I would tell. 

RP 432-433 (9/14/15). 

The prosecutor in closing argued that: 

The defendant chuckled 
not to hurt Ware, to 
I'm not going to hurt 
kill him." 

RP 980 (9/22/15). 

when 
which 
him. 

she told him 
he said, "Oh 
I'm going to 

Here, the prosecutor committed flagrant and ill-

intentioned misconduct by "testifying" to "facts" not in 

1 5 



evidence and putting words in Thornton's mouth in closing 

argument. The prosecutor's misstatements went directly 

to the primary factual issue at trial - whether Thornton 

intended to hurt Ware - there, is a substantial likelihood 

that the misconduct effected the outcome of the trial. 

A prosecutor commits misconduct by urging the jury 

to consider II facts II not in evidence. Glasmann, 175 Wn. 2d 

at 705. It is also misconduct for a prosecutor to misstate 

the facts. Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637 (1974). 

Likewise, it is misconduct to fabricate statements and 

attribute them to the accused in closing argument. Pierce, 

169 Wn.App. at 554. 

Gardner, as indicated above, did not testify that 

Thornton told her he was going to kill Ware. RP 432-433 

The prosecutor's attribution of that confession to Gardner 

(and by proxy, to Mr. Thornton) constituted misconduct. 

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 705. 

The court of appeals held: 

Thornton did not object to the prosecutors 
remark. Given the context of the evidence 
and Ware's subsequent injuries, the 
prosecutor argued a reasonable inference 
from the evidence that Thornton's intent 
was not merely to fight Ware, but to stab 
or kill him. 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION at 12-13. For the reasons which follow 

the Court should reject this finding by the court of appeals 

1 6 



and grant review. 

First, the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant 

and ill-intentioned because it violated professional 

standards and case law that were available at the time 

of the improper statement. Glasmann, Id., at 707; Pierce, 

Id., at 553. 

Second, there is a reasonable probability that the 

prosecutor's improper argument affected the jury's verdict. 

Glasmann, Id., at 704. 

Finally, the prosecutor's misquotation was directly 

relevant to the key factual issue at trial: whether Thornton 

intended to harm Ware. The jury could have taken the 

prosecutor's misstatement of the evidence at face value. 

See Commentary to the ABA standards for Criminal Justice 

std. 3-5.8 (cited in Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 706. 

IV. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION HOLDING THAT PETITIONER 
WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF HIS SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH 
AMENDMENT DUE PROCESS RIGHT' S TO CONFRONTATION 
INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT ISSUE OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 
WHICH SHOULD BE REVIEWED. RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

Scales provided testimony directly undermining 

Thornton's self-defense theory. He claimed to have spoken 

to Thornton directly after the fight, and testified that 

Thornton bragged about stabbing Ware on purpose. RP 563 

(9/15/15). 

Scales and Ware were both members of the Hill top 
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Crips gang. RP 2 8 ( 9 / 8 / 1 5) • Scales had reason to want 

to make his late friend look good and, accordingly, to 

claim that Thornton had acted intentionally rather than 

in self-defense. The trial court did not allow the defense 

to elicit that critical bias evidence. RP 3 0 ( 9 / 8 / 1 5 ) • 

This infringed upon Thornton's right to confrontation. 

State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620 (2002). 

The Confrontation Clause confers on an accused the 

right to confront face to face in the courtroom those who 

give testimony against him or her. The confrontation clause 

reflects a preference for face-to-face confrontation at 

trial. Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 846 (1990); Coy 

v. Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012, 1019 (1988); Melendez-Diaz v. 

Massachusetts, 129 s.ct. 2557 ( 2009). A primary interest 

secured by confrontation is the right of cross-examination. 

Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415 (1965); United States 

v . Ina di , 4 7 5 U • S • 3 8 7 ( 19 8 6 ) • 

The bedrock principle of the right of confrontation 

is the guarantee of an opportunity to conduct "meaningful 

cross-examination of adverse witnesses" to test for memory, 

perception, and credibility. Darden, Id., at 620. 

confrontation helps assure accuracy of the fact-finding 

process. Id., (citing Chambers v. Mississippi, 41 0 U.S. 

284, 294 ( 1973). The right to confront adverse witnesses 
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must be "zealously guarded. II Darden, Id., at 620. 

This Court in Darden, Id, set out a three part test 

for when cross-examination may be limited. First, 

examination that is even minimally relevant must be 

permitted under most circumstances. Second, the state 

must demonstrate that the evidence is "so prejudicial as 

to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process." 

Finally, the state's interest in excluding the evidence 

must be balanced against the accused person's need for 

the information sought. Id. 

Evidence of bias is always relevant. State v. 

Spencer, 111 Wn.App. 401, 408, 45 P.3d 209 (2002)(citing 

Davis, 415 U.S. at 316-18). Here, the evidence that Scales 

and Ware were in the same street gang was relevant to 

Thornton's defense. It clarified the defense theory that 

Scales was biased in favor of Ware and had rea.son to lie 

in order to make his friend look good, and undermine the 

self-defense defense. 

The court of appeals here, held in relevant pertinent 

part that: 

the jury heard numerous reasons why 
Scales testimony might be biased. Thornton 
fails to show how, in light of the other 
impeachment evidence elicited at trial, 
excluding evidence of Scale's past 
affiliation with the crips violated his 
right of confrontation. 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION at 1 5. For the reasons which follow 

1 9 



the Court should rejectthis reasoning. 

First, exposure of a witness bias is "a core value 

of the Sixth Amendment." Second, when a trial court 

prohibits an accused from eliciting evidence relevant to 

bias of a state witness, prejudice is presumed. Spencer, 

111 Wn.App. at 408. Third. Scales testimony was key to 

its theory that Thornton intentionally stabbed Ware. 

And Scales bias was therefore of heightened value to 

Thornton where his defense theory was self-defense. Darden, 

Id., at 620. 

F. Conclusion 

For the reasons stated herein, and in the previous 

submissions the Court should Grant Review and Reverse 

petitioner's conviction and remand for a new trial. RAP 

13.4(b)(1)-(4). 

DATED this li._~day of April, 2017. 

Respectfully submitted, 

1flao.tJ~~o 
MARCUS THRNTON 
Petitioner 
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V. 

MARCUS BERNETT THORNTON, UNPUBLISHED OPINION 
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MELNICK, J. -Marcus Bernett Thornton appeals his murder in the second degree with a 

deadly weapon conviction. We conclude that sufficient evidence supported a first aggressor 

instruction, the prosecutor did not commit misconduct, and we defer to the new RAP 14.2 on 

appellate costs. We do not consider whether the first aggressor instruction stripped Thornton of a 

self-defense claim or whether a violation of Thornton's right to confrontation occurred because he 

did not raise these issues in the trial court. We affinn. 

FACTS 

I. TRIAL TESTIMONY 

On the afternoon of September 22, 2014, Thornton was on his bike trying to locate John 

Ware. Thornton let Ware borrow his Bluetooth speaker, but Ware never returned it. Thornton 

saw Rayneisha Gardner, Ware's girlfriend, flagged her down, and asked where Ware was. Gardner 

knew Thornton and she told him that she did not know where Ware was. 

Gardner asked Thornton whether, several days prior, he had "pulled a knife" on Ware at a 

mutual friend's house. Report of Proceedings (RP) (Sept. 14, 2015) at 427. Thornton responded 
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that he did pull a knife on Ware. When Gardner asked why he did not put the knife down and just 

fight him, Thornton stated that he "wouldn't have pulled a knife if he wanted to fight," meaning 

"[h]e would stab him" over the speaker Ware had not returned. RP (Sept. 14, 2015) at 428. 

Gardner offered to pay for the speaker, but Thornton refused, stating that the dispute was about 

"more than just a speaker." RP (Sept. 14, 2015) at 429. 

Thornton told Gardner that he should tag along with her because he knew Ware would 

come to her. When Gardner refused, Thornton stated it was okay because he could "feel [Ware] 

in the area" and that he would run into him. RP (Sept. 14, 2015) at 432. The remark gave Gardner 

a "chill." RP (Sept. 14, 2015) at 432. When she told Thornton not to hurt Ware, he chuckled and 

said, "Oh, I'm not going to hurt him." RP (Sept. 14, 2015) at 432-33. She stated that if he hurt 

him, she would tell. Gardner had concerns for Ware's safety, but could not warn him because he 

did not have a cell phone. 

On the same day, Ware's friends, Patrice Sims and her boyfriend Anthony Thomas, were 

at a gas station to buy cigarettes when Thornton approached them on his bicycle. Thomas knew 

of Thornton, but Thornton was not from the area. 

Sims saw Ware in the distance and pointed him out to Thomas and Thornton. Thornton 

quickly rode off in Ware's direction. Sims and Thomas followed Thornton because it looked like 

he was going after Ware. Sims and Thomas caught up to Thornton and saw him and Ware 

"tussling" on a person's yard. RP (Sept. 16, 2015) at 641. Thornton slammed Ware to the ground. 

Thornton then got on top of Ware as they continued to fight. 

Sims and Thomas saw Thornton holding a knife in his right hand and stabbing Ware while 

holding his neck. Although Ware carried a bat with him sometimes, Sims and Thomas did not see 
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him with any weapon during the altercation. A neighbor heard a voice say, "No. No. No." RP 

(Sept. 8, 2015) at 100. Thornton repeatedly told Ware to beg for his life. 

Thomas tried to stop the fight. Thornton got off Ware, picked up a baseball bat, threw it 

at him, and left the scene on his bike. Holding his side, Ware rose, called out to Thomas, walked 

towards a house, and fell. Ware suffered stab wounds in his left chest, left back shoulder, and left 

hip. He died minutes after the stabbing. The fatal wound occurred when the knife went through 

his lung and heart. 

Thornton rode to an acquaintance's residence, a "well known drug house." RP (Sept. 15, 

2015) at 573. There, Thornton saw Christopher Scales, a close friend of Ware's. Thornton told 

Scales that he had an altercation with Ware regarding an electronic item and that he stabbed him. 

He told Scales that "he got him good" and that Ware would need to go to the hospital. RP (Sept. 

15, 2015) at 564. He seemed to be bragging about stabbing Ware for "burning him." RP (Sept. 

15, 2015) at 565. Thornton did not appear to be injured and he did not say whether or not Ware 

tried to hurt him. Thornton asked Scales to retrieve a bloody shirt Thornton had thrown under the 

front porch. He also asked for a ride out of the area. Scales did not help Thornton and left the 

house. 

Later that evening, Thornton texted several people asking for assistance to return to his 

home in Illinois. He texted one person, "Baby, I'm in trouble. Help me please ... I got to leave 

Washington ASAP. Can't say much more, but got to go now." RP (Sept. 16, 2015) at 765. None 

of his text messages mentioned what happened with Ware. 

The police found a baseball bat in the vicinity of the crime scene, but the knife and 

Thornton's shirt were never located. The police arrested Thornton two days later. The State 

3 
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charged him with murder in the first degree with a deadly weapon and murder in the second degree 

with a deadly weapon. Thornton pleaded not guilty to both charges. 

II. THORNTON'S TESTIMONY 

Thornton claimed he acted in self-defense. He met Ware several days before the incident 

when Ware asked Thornton to use his Bluetooth speaker. Thornton lent him the speaker and did 

not see him again until the day of the incident. Thornton admitted to talking with Gardner that 

day, but denied ever telling her that he pulled a knife on Ware. Thornton said that after Sims 

pointed out Ware, he only followed him because he wanted to talk to him about the speaker. 

When Thornton caught up to Ware, he saw Ware go to the back of a house and pick up a 

baseball bat. Ware looked at Thornton, said, "What's up?" and ran towards him with the baseball 

bat "cocked." RP (Sept. 21, 2015) at 825. He hit Thornton in the ribs with the bat and the two 

began to struggle for the bat. When one of Ware's hands released the bat, Thornton saw Ware 

wielding a knife with the same hand. As they struggled, Ware tripped and fell onto his back, 

pulling Thornton down with him. Thornton attempted to get up, but Ware pulled him back down, 

wanting to fight. When Thornton eventually got up, he saw Ware get up and look for the bat. As 

Thornton got on his bike and rode off, he turned back to see Ware walking towards a house. 

Thornton rode to the drug house, took off his shirt, and hung it on the porch banister. The 

shirt had no blood on it. He later asked an acquaintance to get his shirt off the porch. He went 

inside and asked about buying "crystal meth" for someone. RP (Sept. 21, 2015) at 833. Thornton 

saw Scales at the house, but did not talk to him. He left the house several minutes later so he could 

purchase methamphetamine at another location. 

When Thornton sent out the text messages later that evening, he did not know of Ware's 

condition. He did not have a knife and did not know Ware was stabbed. Thornton sent messages 
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for help because he thought Ware was trying to find him and he had concerns for his safety. He 

felt alone and wanted to get out of the area. He denied being the first aggressor and denied stabbing 

Ware. 

III. MOTION IN LIMINE 

Pretrial, the State moved to exclude evidence of Scales 's former Crips gang affiliation. 

Because Ware was also a Crip, Thornton wanted to show Scales's bias by presenting evidence that 

both Ware and Scales had affiliations with Tacoma's Hilltop neighborhood, a "Crip area," and that 

they had a "tie" or "bond" between them. RP (Sept. 8, 2015) at 23-24, 29. He anticipated that the 

State would call witnesses who were friends with Ware as Thornton was fairly unknown in the 

community. 

The trial court ruled that it must apply an ER 404(b) analysis because gang affiliation 

evidence cannot be offered for a propensity purpose. Even though Thornton argued that the 

evidence would be offered to show bias, the court decided it needed to consider the evidence's 

prejudicial effect. It granted the State's motion, ruling that the risk of unfair prejudice greatly 

outweighed the probative value of proving bias. 

Although the judge excluded the gang affiliation evidence, the jury did hear other 

impeachment evidence including Scales's convictions and his incarceration for attempting to elude 

a police officer and possession of a stolen vehicle. It also heard that while Scales was in custody, 

he wrote to the prosecutor's office about information regarding this case. Scales knew that 

Thornton planned to assert an insanity defense, and Scales was prepared to testify that Thornton 

was not insane because Thornton was "cognitiv[e]" and "nonchalant" when he came to the drug 

house. RP (Sept. 15, 2015) at 610-11. Scales did not get a deal for testifying in Thornton's trial, 

but he nevertheless wanted to testify because Ware "was like family." RP (Sept. 15, 2015) at 582. 

5 
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The jury also heard that Scales received a deal to be a State's witness in an unrelated case. 

Thornton cross-examined Scales about his convictions, plea deals, and other potential deals. 

IV. FIRST AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION 

Thornton objected to the trial court giving a first aggressor jury instruction, arguing that it 

was not supported by the evidence. Thornton did not object to the first aggressor instruction on 

any other basis. The trial court found that substantial evidence supported the instruction: 

No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a 
belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self defense and thereupon kill 
another person. Therefore, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant 
was the aggressor, and that defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced 
the fight, then self-defense is not available as a defense. 

Clerk's Papers (CP) at 110 (Instr. 25). The trial court also instmcted the jury on self-defense. 

V. CLOSING ARGUMENTS 

During closing argument, the State discussed the conversation between Gardner and 

Thornton. It stated that Gardner offered to pay for the speaker, but Thornton declined because it 

was not about the speaker, but the principle. Thornton objected, arguing that the statement was 

not Gardner's testimony and it was a fact not in evidence. The trial court reminded the jury that 

the attorneys' comments are not evidence. The State continued, arguing: 

[Thornton] chuckled when [Gardner] told him not to hurt Ware, to which he said, 
"Oh, I'm not going to hurt him. I'm going to kill him." 

RP (Sept. 22, 2015) at 980. Thornton did not object to this statement. 

The State also used a PowerPoint presentation in closing. It included slides on evidence 

admitted at trial and jury instructions, including the elements of the crimes, definitions, and the 

State's burden of proof. One of the slides showed two admitted photographs of Ware's body at 

the scene of the crime with a caption that read, "What Does Murder Really Look Like." 

Supplemental (Suppl.) CP at 171; Br. of Appellant at 8; Br. ofResp't at 23. In reference to the 
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photographs, the State reminded the jurors not to evaluate death based on their exposure to crime 

drama on TV: 

I do often make reference to TV ... because we all watch or are affected to 
some degree by it. ... That's where we form a lot of our understanding. 
Frankly, one of the most ... frequent type of genre or topic you see is law 
enforcement on television. . . . [W]e never really actually see what it really 
truly looks like. And Exhibits 37 and 129, which are admitted into 
evidence, this is what it looks like. 

RP (Sept. 22, 2015) at 966. 

The jury acquitted Thornton of murder in the first degree, but found him guilty of murder 

in the second degree with a deadly weapon. Thornton appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

I. FIRST AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION 

A. LOWERING THE STATE'S BURDEN OF DISPROVING SELF-DEFENSE 

Thornton argues that the trial court's first aggressor instruction violated his due process 

rights by impermissibly lowering the State's burden of disproving self-defense beyond a 

reasonable doubt. He asserts that the use of the word "intentional" in the corresponding 

Washington Pattern Jury Instructions Criminal (WPIC) lowered the State's burden of proof and 

precluded a self-defense claim where any intentional act, even a lawful one, may provoke a 

belligerent response. We decline to address this argument. 

At trial, Thornton did not object to the first aggressor instruction on the grounds that he 

now asserts, i.e., that it lowered the state's burden of disproving self-defense. Instead, he only 

excepted to it on the basis that insufficient evidence supported the instruction. 

We need not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal unless the error is 

manifest and truly of constitutional dimension. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 

125 (2007); RAP 2.5(a)(3). Parties raising constitutional issues [on appeal] must present 
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considered arguments to this court. State v. Bonds, 174 Wn. App. 553, 567 n.2, 299 P.3d 663 

(2013); RAP 2.5(a)(3). "'[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to 

command judicial consideration and discussion."' Bonds, 174 Wn. App. at 567 n.2 (quoting State 

v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992)). A defendant must identify the 

constitutional error and show how the error actually prejudiced him and affected his rights at trial. 

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 926-27. If a court determines the claim raises a manifest constitutional 

error, it may still be subject to harmless error analysis. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 927. 

The trial court's first aggressor instruction recited, verbatim, WPIC 16.04 1 which the 

Washington State Supreme Court approved in State v. Riley, 137 Wn.2d 904, 908-09, 976 P.2d 

624 (1999). 2 Riley acknowledged that "[w]hile [a first] aggressor instruction should be given 

where called for by the evidence, [it] impacts a defendant's claim of self-defense, which the State 

has the burden of disproving beyond a reasonable doubt." 137 Wn.2d at 910 n.2. 

Thornton, however, does not show how giving the first aggressor instruction approved in 

Riley constituted error, let alone manifest error effecting a constitutional right. Although he seems 

to argue that the instruction is erroneous because it did not require the provoking act to be unlawful, 

a first aggressor instruction does not require the provoking act to be unlawful. See State v. Wingate, 

155 Wn.2d 817, 822, 122 P.3d 908 (2005). 

Thornton does not make a clear showing that the instruction as applied to the facts of his 

case was incorrect or that it impermissibly lowered the State's burden of proof. Nor does he show 

1 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 16.04, at 
241 (3d ed. 2008) 

2 A previous version of the instruction used the language "unlawful act" instead of "intentional 
act." The Washington State Supreme Court affirmed that the language "unlawful act" was 
unconstitutionally vague. State v. Wingate, 155 Wn.2d 817, 822, 122 P.3d 908 (2005). 
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actual prejudice affecting his rights at trial. Because Thornton cannot show how the error actually 

prejudiced him, we do not consider the alleged error and limit our review to the evidentiary 

objection. 

B. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE FIRST AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION 

Thornton contends that the trial court erred by giving a first aggressor instruction because 

Thornton's lawful conduct was insufficient to show that he was the first aggressor. We disagree. 

Whether the State produced sufficient evidence to justify a first aggressor instruction is a 

question of law we review de novo. State v. Bea, 162 Wn. App. 570, 577, 254 P.3d 948 (2011). 

We view the evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. Wingate, 

155 Wn.2d at 823 n. l ( citing State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d 1150 

(2000)). 

A trial court "properly submits [a first] aggressor instruction where (1) the jury can 

reasonably determine from the evidence that the defendant provoked the fight; (2) the evidence 

conflicts as to whether the defendant's conduct provoked the fight; or (3) the evidence shows that 

the defendant made the first move by drawing a weapon." State v. Anderson, 144 Wn. App. 85, 

89, 180 P.3d 885 (2008) (citing Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 909-10). The court errs in submitting the 

instruction if the evidence shows the defendant used only words to provoke the fight. Anderson, 

144 Wn. App. at 89. 

At trial, the parties presented conflicting evidence as to whether Thornton's acts provoked 

the response by Ware. The State submitted evidence showing that Thornton was actively looking 

to stab Ware, and once he spotted Ware, Thornton chased him down. Thornton submitted evidence 

that he only wanted to speak to Ware and that Ware charged at him with a bat and pulled a knife. 
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Recognizing the presence of conflicting evidence, the trial court gave the first aggressor 

instruction. 

The trial court followed the directive in Riley that such an instruction is appropriate if there 

is conflicting evidence as to whether the defendant's conduct precipitated the fight. 137 Wn.2d at 

910. Based on the conflicting evidence, a jury could reasonably infer that, within the context of 

Thornton having pulled a knife on Ware days before his death, Thornton actively searched for 

Ware, aggressively approached him, and attacked him. A reasonable jury could find that 

Thornton's acts were intentional and reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response from 

Ware. We, therefore, conclude that in light of the conflicting evidence as to whose actions 

precipitated the fight, the first aggressor instmction was proper. 

II. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

A. LEGAL STANDARDS 

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must show that in the 

context of the entire record and the circumstances of trial, the prosecutor's conduct was both 

improper and prejudicial. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Failure 

to object to an improper remark waives the error, unless the remark is so flagrant and ill-intentioned 

that an instmction to the jury would not have cured the prejudice. In re Pers. Restraint of 

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). "Under this heightened standard, the 

defendant must show that ( 1) 'no curative instmction would have obviated any prejudicial effect 

on the jury' and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that 'had a substantial likelihood of 

affecting the jury verdict."' State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (quoting 

Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 455). 

10 
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In closing argument, prosecutors have wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from 

the evidence. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 448. However, a prosecutor should "'not use arguments 

calculated to inflame the passions or prejudices of the jury.'" Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704 

(quoting AM. BAR Ass'N, STANDARDS FOR CRIM. JUSTICE std. 3-5.8(c) (2d ed. 1980)). 

Prosecutors may use multimedia resources in closing arguments to summarize and highlight 

relevant evidence. State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 476, 341 P.3d 976 (2015). Prosecutors, 

however, may not present altered versions of admitted evidence to support the State's theory of 

the case. Walker, I 82 Wn.2d at 478. Highly prejudicial images may sway a jury in ways that 

words cannot; such imagery may, therefore, be difficult to overcome with an instruction. 

Glasmann, I 75 Wn.2d at 707. 

B. POWERPOINT SLIDE 

Thornton argues that he did not receive his right to a fair trial because the State showed 

images of Ware's bloodied body during closing argument with a caption equating the images to 

what murder looked like, thereby inflaming the jury's passion and prejudice. Assuming without 

deciding that the State used improper captions with its Power Point presentation during closing, we 

conclude that an instruction to the jury would have cured any prejudice. 

During closing argument, the State displayed a PowerPoint slide with two photographs that 

had been admitted into evidence showing Ware's body at the crime scene. However, the State 

added a caption stating, "What Does Murder Really Looks Like." Supp. CP at I 71; Br. of 

Appellant at 8; Br. of Resp't at 23. In reference to the photographs, the State reminded the jurors 

not to evaluate death based on their exposure to crime drama on TV. Thornton did not object to 

the slide. 
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The undisputed evidence showed Ware received multiple stab wounds that caused his 

death. Even if we assume the caption was inflammatory, it was not so flagrant and ill-intentioned 

that no instruction could have cured the prejudice. The jury had already seen the admitted photos 

of Ware's body, and given the overwhelming evidence presented at trial a curative instruction to 

ignore the caption would have cured any asserted prejudice. We, therefore, conclude that there 

was no prosecutorial misconduct. 

C. TESTIFYING TO FACTS NOT IN EVIDENCE DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS 

Thornton also argues that the prosecutor impermissibly testified to facts not in evidence 

when the prosecutor stated that Thornton said he was going to kill Ware. He argues that because 

the misstatement went directly to the primary factual issue at trial-whether Thornton intended to 

hurt Ware-there was a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the outcome of his 

case. We disagree. 

At trial, the evidence showed that Thornton pulled a knife on Ware. Thornton stated that 

he would not have brought a knife if he wanted to fight. He told Gardner that he could feel Ware 

in the area and knew he would run into him, a statement that gave Gardner "a chill." RP (Sept. 

14, 2015) at 432. When Gardner told Thornton not to hurt Ware, he chuckled and stated, "Oh, I'm 

not going to hurt him." RP (Sept. 14, 2015) at 432-33. Gardner said she would tell if he hurt 

Ware, and testified that she was concerned for Ware after having had the conversation with 

Thornton. 

During closing arguments, the prosecutor stated, "[Thornton] chuckled when [Gardner] 

told him not to hurt Ware, to which he said, 'Oh, I'm not going to hurt him. I'm going to kill 

him.'" RP (Sept. 22, 2015) at 980. Thornton did not object to the prosecutor's remark. Given the 

context of the evidence and Ware's subsequent injuries, the prosecutor argued a reasonable 
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inference from the evidence that Thornton's intent was not merely to fight Ware, but to stab or kill 

him. 

Thornton fails to show how the remark had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict 

and how it was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no instruction could have cured any prejudicial 

effect. Therefore, his argument fails. 

III. RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION 

Thornton argues that his right to confrontation was violated when the trial court prohibited 

him from cross-examining Scales about being a member of the Crips gang. He argues that being 

prohibited from exposing Scales's bias was prejudicial to his case. Because Thornton cannot show 

manifest error affecting a constitutional right, we decline to decide the issue. 

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution 

guarantees a defendant the opportunity to confront witnesses against him or her through cross­

examination. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 752, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). A defendant has the 

right to confront witnesses against him with bias evidence so long as the evidence is minimally 

relevant. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 752. 

The trial court has authority to set boundaries regarding the extent to which the defendant 

may delve into the witness' alleged bias based on concerns such as harassment, prejudice, 

confusion of the issues, witness' safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally 

relevant. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 752. We uphold a trial court's ruling on the scope of cross­

examination absent a finding of manifest abuse of discretion. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 752. 

Under RAP 2.5(a)(3), an appellant may not raise a claim of error on appeal that was not 

raised at trial, unless he or she demonstrates that the alleged error is manifest and the error is truly 

of constitutional dimension. State v. 0 'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). An error 
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is of constitutional dimension if the asserted claim, if co1Tect, implicates a constitutional interest 

as compared to another form of trial error. State v. Grimes, 165 Wn. App. 172, 186, 267 P.3d 454 

(2011 ). An alleged error is manifest if the error had practical and identifiable consequences at 

trial. State v. Gordon, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). We place ourselves in the shoes 

of the trial court when determining if an alleged error had practical and identifiable consequences. 

0 'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 100. 

In State v. O'Cain, 169 Wn. App. 228, 248, 279 P.3d 926 (2012), Division One of this 

court held that a clear line of decisions requires that a defendant raise a confrontation clause claim 

at or before trial, or lose the benefit of the right. (Citing to Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 

U.S. 305, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009); Bul/coming v. New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647, 

131 S. Ct. 2705, 180 L. Ed 610 (2011 ); State v. Jasper, 174 Wn.2d 96, 271 P.3d 876(2012); State 

v. Hayes, 165 Wn. App. 507, 265 P.3d 982, review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1020 (2013)). However, 

as stated in Melendez-Diaz, States may adopt procedural rules governing objections and the issue 

is whether RAP 2.5 is such a procedural rule. Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 

313-14 n.3, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009). 

In State v. Hart, we noted that our Supreme Court has not overruled case law which allows 

defendants to raise an alleged confrontation violation for the first time on appeal if they satisfy the 

requirements of RAP 2.5(a)(3). 195 Wn. App. 449, 458 n.3, 381 P.3d 142 (2016). We stated that, 

notwithstanding the sound reasoning in O 'Cain, 169 Wn. App 228, we would follow State v. Hieb, 

107 Wn.2d 97, 104-08, 727 P.2d 239 (1986). Hart, 195 Wn. App. at 458 n.3. Therefore, we 

analyze Thornton's claim under RAP 2.5(a)(3). 

Pretrial, Thornton unsuccessfully argued that evidence of Scales' past affiliation with the 

Crips could be used as bias evidence to establish a "tie" or "bond" between Scales and Ware. RP 
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(Sept. 8, 2015) at 24, 29. After conducting an ER 404(b) analysis, the trial court excluded the 

evidence. Although evidence of Scales's past affiliation with the Crips was excluded, other 

evidence was introduced at trial to establish Scales' s bias and the "tie" between Ware and Scales. 

The jury heard evidence that Scales worked with the State in the past in exchange for a deal on his 

sentence. It heard about Thornton's convictions and that he was in jail when he unsuccessfully 

attempted to get a deal for testifying against Thornton in this case. The jury also heard that Scales 

wanted to testify, even though he did not get a deal, because Ware "was like family." RP (Sept. 

15, 2015) at 582. 

Here, the jury heard evidence of numerous reasons why Scales's testimony might be 

biased. Thornton fails to show how, in light of the other impeachment evidence elicited at trial, 

excluding evidence of Scales's past affiliation with the Crips violated his right to confrontation. 

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in excluding the evidence. Further, Thornton 

makes no argument showing that the alleged constitutional error had practical and identifiable 

consequences at trial. Because the error was not preserved and Thornton makes no argument or 

citations to authority showing how excluding evidence of Scales's gang affiliation-in light of 

other bias evidence admitted at trial-was manifest error, we do not decide the issue. 

IV. APPELLATE COSTS 

Lastly, Thornton argues that, should the State prevail on appeal, we should not require him 

to pay appellate costs. He opposes appellate costs in light of State v. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. 380, 

367 P.3d 612, review denied, 185 Wn.2d l 034 (2016), asserting that he does not have the ability 

to pay because he is indigent. Under the newly revised provisions of RAP 14.2, a commissioner 

of this court will consider whether to award appellate costs under the rule if the State decides to 

file a cost bill and if Thornton objects to that cost bill. We defer to the commissioner's decision. 
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We affirm. 

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

~-::r.-Melnick, J. J 

We concur: 

-~-A.t.J. 
Maxa, A.~.J. 

Lee, J. 
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